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Nicole E. Lovelock, Esq. 
Nevada State Bar No. 11187 
Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq.  
Nevada State Bar No. 11611 
JONES LOVELOCK 
6600 Amelia Earhart Ct., Suite C 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: (702) 805-8450 
Fax: (702) 805-8451 
nlovelock@joneslovelock.com 
khyson@joneslovelock.com 

Attorneys for Kamille Dean 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE 
COMMISSION,  

Plaintiff, 
v. 

MATTHEW WADE BEASLEY, et al., 

Defendants. 

THE JUDD IRREVOCABLE TRUST, et al., 

Relief Defendants. 

CASE NO.:  2:22-cv-0612-CDS-EJY 

NON-PARTY KAMILLE DEAN’S 
REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO 
QUASH JURISDICTION OVER 
KAMILLE DEAN AND THE 
RECEIVER’S AUGUST 1, 2022, OSC RE 
CONTEMPT AND TURN OVER ORDER 
(DKT 257) 

Non-Party KAMILLE DEAN (Ms. Dean), by and through her attorneys of record, the law 

firm of JONES LOVELOCK, hereby submits this Reply in Support of her Motion to Quash Jurisdiction 

Over Kamille Dean and Receiver's Motion for OSC re Contempt and Turn Over Order (Dkt. 257) 

(“Motion to Quash”).1  This Reply is based upon the attached Memorandum of Points and 

Authorities, the papers and pleadings on file in this matter, the attached exhibits, and any oral 

1 Along with Ms. Dean’s Motion to Strike Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternatively Motion for Order to 
Show Cause (Dkt. 258), Motion for Leave to File Interpleader (Dkt. 259), and Objection to Affidavits of K. Hendricks 
and D. Zaro (Dkt. 260), these Motions and related Replies serve as a complete response to the Receiver’s Motion to 
Compel or Alternatively Motion for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210).    
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argument that the Court may allow. 

I. THE RECEIVER’S MOTION SHOULD BE QUASHED BECAUSE THE RECEIVER
VIOLATED SECTION 754 BY FAILING TO FILE NOTICE OF THE
RECEIVERSHIP IN ARIZONA WITHIN 10-DAYS OF APPOINTMENT.
Even if the Receiver had named the correct parties in this proceeding, he has failed to comply

with statutory requirements to establish jurisdiction.2  28 U.S.C. § 754 requires that in order to vest 

with complete jurisdiction: 

… a receiver appointed in any civil action or proceeding involving 
property, real, personal or mixed, situated in different districts . . . shall, 
within ten days after the entry of his order of appointment, file copies of 
the complaint and such order of appointment in the district court for 
each district in which property is located.  The failure to file such copies 
in any district shall divest the receiver of jurisdiction and control over 
all such property in that district.3 

When a defendant challenges the sufficiency of personal jurisdiction, the plaintiff bears the 

burden of establishing personal jurisdiction over the defendant.4  “A plaintiff can carry its burden 

only by presenting sufficient evidence to establish that (1) personal jurisdiction is proper under the 

laws of the state where it is asserted; and (2) the exercise of jurisdiction does not violate the 

defendant's right to due process secured by the United States Constitution.”5  The Receiver has failed 

to carry its burden of establishing personal jurisdiction existed at the time its Motion to Compel or 

Alternative Motion for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210) was filed on August 1, 2022 or thereafter. 

/// 

/// 

2 The Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210) requests that Kamille 
Dean, individually, turn over $210,060 in funds.  However, Ms. Dean does not personally possess these funds. Rather, 
these funds were provided to the Law Offices of Kamille Dean, P.C.’s Trust Account and the Retainer Agreement was 
entered into by the Law Offices of Kamille Dean, P.C.  The wrong party has been named. 
3 28 U.S.C. § 754 (emphasis added). 
4 H.E.B., LLC v. Walker, 437 P.3d 1060 (Nev. 2019); Sinatra v. Nat’l Enquirer, Inc., 854 F.2d 1191, 1194 (9th Cir. 1988) 
citing Cubbage v. Merchent, 744 F.2d 665, 667 (9th Cir. 1984), cert. denied, 470 U.S. 1005, 84 L. Ed. 2d 380, 105 S. Ct. 
1359 (1985).  “Once a defendant raises the defense, the burden falls on the plaintiff to prove sufficient facts to establish 
that jurisdiction is proper. Boschetto v. Hansing, 539 F.3d 1011, 1015 (9th Cir. 2008). 
5 Ziegler v. Indian River Cty., 64 F.3d 470, 473 (9th Cir. 1995). 
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A. The Receiver Has Not Met Its Burden of Establishing Jurisdiction Under Section
754.

Here, the Receiver was appointed on June 3, 2022.6  To establish jurisdiction over the funds 

at issue, the Receiver was required to file the Complaint and Appointment Order in Arizona no later 

than June 13, 2022.  The Receiver admits that he failed to do so.  Therefore, the Receiver did not 

establish jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or the funds at issue at that time.   

In an effort to avoid the consequences of this misstep, the Receiver argues that “the proverbial 

clock reset” due to the filing of the Order Amending Receivership Order on July 28, 2022, and the 

timely filing of the Complaint and Appointment Order in Arizona on August 5, 2022.7  The 

Receiver’s reliance on Ashmore v. Barber 8 is misplaced.  In Ashmore, the Court held that the 10-

day clock under § 754 restarts following an “amended receivership order.”9  Despite the use of the 

term “amended receivership order,” further investigation into Ashmore reveals that a reappointment 

order -not an amended receivership order – was at issue.10 An amended order is not akin to a 

reappointment order.  Importantly, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals has held that reappointment 

of a receiver will re-start the ten-day clock.11 

6 Ord. Appointing Receiver (Dkt. 88). 
7 Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 11: 17-27; Ord. Amend. Receivership Ord. (Dkt. 207).  
8 2016 WL 4555340, at *5 (D.S.C. Sept. 1, 2016).  Ashmore  is a South Carolina case and is not controlling. 
9 Id. 
10 The Ashmore Reappointment took place in In re Receivership of Wilson, Case No. 12-cv-02078 (D.S.C. Oct. 28, 2015) 
(Dkt. 164).  Ex. A; see also Ashmore, 2016 WL 4555340, at *11; 10-28-15 Order in In re Receiver of Wilson (Dkt. 164), 
Ex. I (emphasis added) (“After consideration, the court GRANTS the Receiver’s Motion to remove the Halls from the 
January 13, 2015 Order.  This Order replaces and supersedes the Order of January 13, 2015.”).  The Order was a 
Reappointment, not an Amendment.  The Receiver then filed the new Order in Georgia because the original Order was 
superseded. Ex. A, 10-28-15 Order in In re Receiver of Wilson (Dkt. 164). 
11 SEC v. Am. Cap. Invest., 98 F.3d 1133, 1143 (9th Cir. 1996), citing SEC v. Vision Communications, Inc., 315 U.S. 
App. D.C. 384, 74 F.3d 287, 291 (D.C. Cir. 1996). The distinction between an Order Amending Receivership, as was 
filed here, and a reappointment is critical, as reappointment – not amendment – resets the ten-day clock.  See Terry v. 
Walker, 369 F. Supp. 2d 818, 820 (W.D. Va. 2005) (order reappointing receiver mandatory after SEC Receiver failure 
to comply with 28 U.S.C. section 754); Warfield v. Arpe, 2007 WL 549467, at *12 (N.D. Tex. Feb. 22, 2007) (SEC 
sought receiver reappointment following failure to comply with § 754); Federal Trade Comm'n v. Digital Altitude, LLC.,   
2019 WL 5290384 (C.D. Cal. May 31, 2019) (Motion to Reappoint Receiver following failure to comply with § 754); 
SEC v. Arisbank, Case No. 18 V 0186, Docket No. 21 (N.D. Tex. Apr 3, 2018)(Motion for Reappointment for failure to 
comply with § 754).  Moreover, the standards for reappointment differ from the standards for an Amendment.  28 U.S.C. 
§ 3103; Fed. R. Civ. P. 66, Canada Life Assur. Co. v. LaPeter, 563 F.3d 837, 844 (9th Cir. 2009) (setting for specific
requirements for appointment).
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Even if the Order Amending Receivership Order restarted the 10-day clock, the Receiver’s 

position still fails for two (2) reasons.  First, the Receiver filed the Motion to Compel or Alternative 

Motion for Order to Show Cause on August 1, 2022, prior to the August 5, 2022 filing of the 

Complaint and Appointment Order in Arizona.12  Therefore, at the time of the Receiver’s filing, the 

Receiver had not complied with § 754 and did not have jurisdiction over Ms. Dean or the funds at 

issue herein.  Second, the Receiver did not file the Order Amending Receivership Order in Arizona, 

but rather the original June 3, 2022 Order Appointing Receiver.13  Again the Receiver failed to 

comply with § 754 and was divested of jurisdiction. 

B. The Receiver Has Failed to Otherwise Establish Personal Jurisdiction Over Ms.
Dean.

The Receiver fails to provide any basis for general or specific personal jurisdiction over Ms. 

Dean.  General personal jurisdiction occurs when the nonresident defendant's “contacts with the 

forum state are so continuous and systematic as to render [the defendant] essentially at home in the 

forum State.”14  Ms. Dean does not reside in Nevada, is not licensed in Nevada, does not have any 

offices in Nevada, and does not solicit Nevada clients.  She has done nothing to render herself “at 

home” in Nevada.15  Interestingly, the Receiver ignores these facts, and instead argues Ms. Dean’s 

receipt of funds from a Nevada attorney, representation of a Nevada client, and hiring of a Nevada 

12 See Mot. to Compel or Alt. Mot. for Order to Show Cause (Dkt. 210). 
13 Ex. B, Arizona filing of Complaint and Appointment Order. 
14 H.E.B., LLC v. Walker, 437 P.3d 1060 (Nev. 2019), citing  Fulbright & Jaworski LLP v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 
Court, 131 Nev. 30, 36, 342 P.3d at 1001-02 (alternations in original) (internal quotation marks omitted). 
15 See Trierweiler v. Croxton and Trench Holding Corp., 90 F.3d 152, 1543–44 (10th Cir. 1996)(Colorado did not have 
general jurisdiction over nonresident defendant where contacts with Colorado included admission to practice law in the 
Tenth Circuit, owning property in Colorado, maintaining joint bank account in Colorado and traveling to state several 
times a year); Wilson v. Belin, 20 F.3d 644, 650–51 (5th Cir.1994) (Texas did not have general jurisdiction over 
nonresident defendant where contacts with Texas included carrying malpractice insurance through a Texas law firm, 
doing three legal projects in Texas in three years, giving legal seminar in Texas and serving as a pro bono consultant to 
a Dallas historical society); First Trust Nat'l Ass'n v. Jones, Walker, Waechter, Poitevent, Carrere & Denegre, 996 F. 
Supp. 585 (S.D. Miss. 1998) (Louisiana law firm, a nonresident defendant in legal malpractice action, was not subject to 
general jurisdiction of Mississippi court where only contacts with Mississippi included occasional representation of 
Mississippi clients and some members of firm were licensed to practice law in Mississippi).  See also Crea v. Busby, 48 
Cal. App. 4th 509, 515-16 (1996) (California did not have general jurisdiction over nonresident defendant in legal 
malpractice action where defendant's contacts with California included only maintenance of California law license). 
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attorney to assist her with the same is sufficiently continuous and systematic to create jurisdiction.16  

This position is a stretch.  The transfer of funds from a Nevada attorney and domicile of her clients 

is irrelevant.  Ms. Dean was hired to represent Jeffrey Judd, Kennedy Judd, Khloe Judd, Jennifer 

Judd, Parker Judd, and Preston Judd (collectively the “Judds”) related to Utah subpoenas due to her 

licensure in Utah.  Ms. Dean’s hiring of a “Nevada attorney” to assist with the subpoena responses 

similarly does not establish continuous and systematic contacts with Nevada.17  But even it did, Ms. 

Dean hired Phil Escolar, an Arizona attorney who practices in Arizona.18  There is no basis for 

general jurisdiction over Ms. Dean. 

There is similarly no basis to assert specific personal jurisdiction over Ms. Dean.  “[S]pecific 

personal jurisdiction is proper only where the cause of action arises from the defendant's contacts 

with the forum.”19  To make a prima facie showing of specific personal jurisdiction, a plaintiff must 

demonstrate that the nonresident defendant: (1) purposefully availed itself of the forum, (2) its 

activities or consequences thereof must be the basis of the cause of action, and (3) “those activities, 

or consequence thereof, must have a substantial enough connection with the forum state to make the 

exercise of jurisdiction over the defendant reasonable.”20  Due process guarantees no federal court 

may assume personal jurisdiction of a non-resident defendant unless the defendant has “minimum 

contacts with [the forum state] such that the maintenance of the suit does not offend ‘traditional 

notions of fair play and substantial justice.’”21  There can be no specific jurisdiction unless the 

16 Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), 14:7-10. 
17 Far West Capital, Inc. v. Towne, 46 F.3d 1071, 1074 (10th Cir. 1995) (retention of legal counsel does not establish 
minimum contacts with legal counsel's home forum).   
18 Ex. C, Decl. of Phil Escolar.  Mr. Escolar is not licensed in Nevada and does not reside in Nevada.  It appears the 
Receiver basis his belief that Mr. Escolar is a Nevada attorney on his billing records, which state “MP ESCOLAR *Legal 
Support Services* PO BOX 984, Reno, Nevada.” See Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 21: 8-11; Dean Mot. 
to Quash Receiver’s Mot. of OSC (Dkt. 257), Ex. C.  Mr. Escolar’s daughter resides in Reno, and receives mail at the 
P.O. Box address.  This does not extend personal jurisdiction over Mr. Escolar, but even if it does, that cannot be used 
to extend personal jurisdiction to Ms. Dean or the funds at issue. 
19 H.E.B., LLC v. Walker, 437 P.3d 1060 (Nev. 2019), citing  Fulbright & Jaworski LLP v. Eighth Judicial Dist. 
Court, 131 Nev. 30, 36, 342 P.3d at 1001-02 
20 131 Nev. at 38, 342 P.3d at 1002 (quoting Consipio Holding, BV v. Carl berg, 128 Nev. 454, 458, 282 P.3d 751, 755 
(2012)). 
21 Int'l Shoe Co. v. Washington, 326 U.S. 310, 316 (1945). 
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defendant engaged in purposeful and foreseeable conduct that resulted in the basis for the lawsuit in 

the forum state.22  Ms. Dean engaged in no such conduct. 

In this case, Ms. Dean did not solicit the Judds in Nevada and did not provide them services 

in Nevada.23  All of Ms. Dean’s services were conducted in Arizona for compliance with an SEC 

subpoena out of Utah – the whole transaction was unrelated to Nevada.24  Contrary to the Receiver’s 

position, payment from a Nevada bank account to Ms. Dean's trust account does not create general 

or specific jurisdiction.25  The Receiver curiously goes so far as to claim Ms. Dean’s licensure in a 

state adjacent to Nevada is sufficient to create minimum contacts.26  This position is preposterous. 

Ms. Dean’s proximity to the Nevada is not a basis for jurisdiction in Nevada.27  A party must 

purposefully avail themselves of the laws and benefits within a state, not live close by.28  The 

Receiver’s claim that Ms. Dean “lives close by” is a nonsense basis for minimum contacts, which no 

court has ever approved.  Again, Ms. Dean conducted no business in Nevada, and had no activity or 

minimum contacts in Nevada related to the controversy at issue.  The Receiver has failed to establish 

22 Bristol-Myers Squibb Co. v. Superior Court, 137 S. Ct. 1773, 1779-80 (2017).  
23 See Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), Decl. of Kamille Dean, ¶ 15. 
24 Id.  
25 Chancellor v. Lawrence, 501 F. Supp. 997, 1001 (N.D. Ill. 1980) (“Moreover, Dr. Tipton's services were solicited by 
Meridell after he was recommended by the Center's pediatrician. That Dr. Tipton may ultimately have been paid indirectly 
by funds made available from Illinois is insufficient to confer jurisdiction.”); Ex Parte Alamo Title Co., 128 So. 3d 700, 
712 (Ala. 2013) (there was no personal gestation over defendant Alamo because “Alamo had virtually no contact with 
Alabama other than telephone and electronic-mail communications and the wiring  of funds from the Texas bank account 
to the Alabama bank account in relation to the real-estate transaction”); Biederman v. Schnader, Harrison, Siegal & 
Lewis, 765 F. Supp. 1057 (D. Kan. 1991)(holding checks received by defendant from a Kansas plaintiff [were] not 
sufficient contacts to support an exercise by the court of personal jurisdiction over this defendant.”); Worthington v. 
Small, 46 F.Supp.2d 1126 (D.Kan.1999) (holding the Kansas court did not have jurisdiction over a Missouri attorney 
where the contract was formed in Missouri, and no business related to the representation occurred in Kansas).   
26 The Receiver argues that “[A]s an attorney licensed in the states surrounding Nevada, subjecting Ms. Dean to 
jurisdiction for this limited matter does not impose an undue burden of travel or logistics.”  Receiver’s Omnibus Response 
(Dkt. 275), at 22: 8-10. 
27 Shoppers Food Warehouse v. Moreno, 746 A.2d 320, 324 (D.C. 2000) (“This court has never determined whether 
newspaper and other advertisements in the District by a nonresident corporation owning a chain of stores, some of which 
are located in very close proximity to the District's borders, are sufficient to meet the minimum contacts requirement of 
the District's long-arm statute.”).   
28 World-Wide Volkswagen Corp. v. Woodson, 444 U.S. 286, 297, 100 S. Ct. 559, 567, 62 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1980) (to have 
minimum contacts a party must “purposefully avails itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum 
State”).   
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jurisdiction over Ms. Dean. 

II. MS. DEAN HAS BEEN IRREPARABLY PREJUDICED BY THE SECTION 754
VIOLATION.

The Receiver provides no evidence refuting Ms. Dean’s claimed prejudice, and wholly fails

to address the repercussions of his failure to comply with § 754.  Instead, the Receiver merely argues 

that any alleged prejudice is “outweighed by the irrefutable precedent which establishes defendant 

cannot use tainted and/or ill-gotten funds for their defense.”29  This conflates two separate issues: (1) 

whether the Receiver’s § 754 violation resulted in prejudice to Ms. Dean; and (2) whether the funds 

used for Ms. Dean’s retainer were tainted and/or ill-gotten, making them a receivership asset. 

A. The Receiver Fails to Address the Prejudice to Ms. Dean Due to his Failure to
Comply with § 754.

Ms. Dean set forth specific prejudice she experienced as a result of the Receiver’s failure to 

comply with § 754:30 

(1) Ms. Dean has been irreparably injured because she provided

$201,060 in emergency service to the Judds to comply with SEC subpoenas, for 

which she has not been paid.  Ms. Dean was retained by the Judds on March 25, 

2022.31  Ms. Dean received the retainer on or about March 30, 2022, began working 

on the responses to the SEC subpoenas, and hired contract attorneys to do the 

same.32  This matter was not filed until April 12, 2022; the freeze order was not 

issued until April 21, 2022, and the Order Appointing Receiver was not filed until 

June 3, 2022; and Ms. Dean was not contacted by the Receiver regarding the funds 

at issue until June 8, 2022.33  Importantly, Ms. Dean was retained and was provided 

29 Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275), at 14:23-15:9. 
30 See Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), at 8:3-21, Ex. D. 
31 See Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), at 8:3-21, Ex. B. 
32 See Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), Decl. of Kamille Dean, ¶ 5. 
33 Compl. (Dkt.1); Injunction (Dkt. 56), Order Appointing Receiver (Dkt. 88); see also Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), Decl. 
of Kamille Dean, ¶ 6. 
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with the Retainer prior to entry of the freeze order, and incurred over $200,000 in 

fees prior to appointment of the Receiver and notice of the same.34  Ms. Dean 

performed this work in good faith, incurred fees prior to appointment of the 

Receiver, and deserves to be paid for her good faith work. 

(2) Despite the Receiver’s failure to comply with § 754 and her

objection based upon the same, Ms. Dean turned over $48,940 in funds to the 

Receiver; 

(3) The Receiver’s demands put Ms. Dean at odds with five (5) of her

clients, who are not the subject of the SEC complaint, and who have requested that 

the money be applied to their legal fees, not turned over to the Receiver.35  This 

catch-22 has caused Ms. Dean severe emotional distress, financial harm, and 

physical injury.  It has also created an inability for Ms. Dean to fulfill her service 

to her clients or potentially face contempt; 

(4) Ms. Dean has been unable to pay her contract attorneys, Phil Escolar

and Maureen Jaroscak, for work performed related to the Utah SEC subpoenas. 

This has caused irreparable harm to Ms. Dean’s relationship with these attorneys, 

and has harmed her ability to hire contract attorneys in the future;  

(5) Ms. Dean has suffered irreparable injury to her relationship with her

staff due to her inability to fulfill her financial commitments to them due to the 

Receiver’s demands;  

(6) All of this injury occurred due to the Receiver’s failure to timely and

properly notify Ms. Dean of his intent to seek return of her retainer. 

Notably, the Receiver ignores Ms. Dean’s alleged prejudice and has presented no evidence 

to refute the same.    

34 In fact, Ms. Dean billed 208 hours responding to the SEC subpoenas prior to SEC Complaint being filed and the TRO 
being entered. 
35 See Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), Decl. of Kamille Dean, ¶ 16. 
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B. The Receiver Failed to Make a Prima Facie Showing the Funds Used for Ms.
Dean’s Retainer were Tainted.

In the Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for OSC and Omnibus Response, the Receiver 

takes the position that Ms. Dean has the burden to establish her Retainer was not the result of the 

fraud at issue in the SEC Complaint.36  This is not the standard.  The burden of proof in a turnover 

proceeding is at all times on the receiver or trustee; he must at least establish a prima facie case. 

After that, the burden of explaining or going forward shifts to the other party, but the ultimate burden 

or risk of persuasion is upon the receiver or trustee.”37 While Gorenz may be factually distinct from 

the instant matter because it dealt with a bankruptcy proceeding, this does not negate the Court’s 

legal holding that the burden of proof is also on a receiver.38   

The Receiver wholly fails to set forth any evidence that the funds used for Ms. Dean’s retainer 

were the result of the Ponzi scheme alleged in this case, and therefore fails to meet his burden. 

However, even if this Court finds that Ms. Dean has the burden to establish her retainer was not 

36 The Receiver relies on several inapplicable cases in support of this position. Receiver’s Omnibus Response (Dkt. 275). 
At 17:8-28.  FTC v. Digital Altitude, LLC, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 224949 (C. D. Cal. July 26, 2018) involved defendants 
seeking to unfreeze funds for living expenses.  Here, Ms. Dean was not subject to the freeze order and is not asking to 
unfreeze anything.  Rather, she is asking to retain those funds that were earned prior to appointment of the receiver, and 
her notice of the same.  SEC v. Rosenthal, 42 Fed. App’x 1 (2d Cir. 2011) applies solely to cases involving insider trading, 
not Ponzi schemes like the instant case.  This case also discussed the disgorgement by defendants and relief 
defendants.  Ms. Dean is neither.  Cases cited in the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternative Motion for OSC 
regarding the burden of proof are similarly inapplicable.  (Dkt. 210), at 8:16-9:3, 10:8-17.  SEC uses Santillo for the 
proposition that Ms. Dean has the burden to “establish that the funds [s]he seeks to [retain] are untainted and that there 
are sufficient funds to satisfy any disgorgement remedy that might be ordered in the event a violation is established.” 
SEC v. Santillo, No. 18-CV-5491 (JGK), 2018 WL 3392881, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. July 11, 2018).  But Santillo sets forth the 
standard for a defendant to request assets be unfrozen for living expenses, attorney’s fees etc.  SEC v. Fujinaga, 2020 
WL 3050713 at *3 (D. Nev. June 8, 2020) also deals with a defendant’s request to unfreeze assets to pay attorney’s fees 
after transferring $100,000 to an attorney following an asset freeze and appointment of a receiver. Again, Ms. Dean is 
not the Defendant, and she is not seeking to unfreeze assets.  Rather, it is Ms. Dean’s position that the earned portion of 
her retainer is not a receivership asset.  Her fees were also earned for past services prior to the appointment of the Receiver 
– not future services such as in Santillo. SEC v. Marino also deals with a defendant who transferred $100,000 to an
attorney after an asset freeze and requested the court unfreeze assets to be used in his defense.  29 Fed. Appx. 538, 541
(10th Cir. 2002) (quoting SEC v. Quinn, 997 F.2d 287, 289 (7th Cir. 1993).  Quinn, the case cited in Marino, supports
Ms. Dean’s position that the burden of proof rests with the receiver.   In Quinn, the court requested that the SEC make
a preliminary showing that Quinn’s assets could be traced to fraud.  Satisfied with the response, the court than invited
the defendant to demonstrate that he had fund that were not tainted.  Quinn failed to do so.
37 Evans v. Robbins, 897 F.2d 966, 968 (8th Cir. 1990), citing Gorenz v. Illinois Dept. of Agriculture, 653 F.2d 1179, 
1184 (7th Cir. 1981) (emphasis added); see also Maggio v. Zeitz, 333 U.S. 56, 63-64, 92 L. Ed. 476, 68 S. Ct. 401 (1948).  
The receiver has the burden to establish the Retainer is a receivership asset.  SEC v. Ross, 504 F.3d 1130, 1146 (9th Cir. 
2007). 
38 Evans, 897 F.2d at 968; see also SEC v. Ross, 504 F.3d 1130, 1146 (9th Cir. 2007). 
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obtained from the alleged Ponzi scheme, Ms. Dean has set forth sufficient evidence in the Motion to 

Quash and her Certification.39  Specifically, Ms. Dean and other attorney’s retained by the Judds 

conducted due diligence regarding the source of the funds, including investigation by former federal 

agents, compliance with the DOJ’s Asset Forfeiture Policy Manual, review of financials, bank 

records, emails, text exchanges and other materials turned over in the investigation into Jeffrey Judd, 

and the expert analysis of former federal agents.40  Ms. Dean also relied upon the representations of 

her clients that the funds came from a family trust and were not the result of the alleged Ponzi 

scheme.41  This information is sufficient to make a prima facie case that the funds are not tainted. 

Notably, the Receiver completely disregards this discussion because it does not serve his interests, 

and in doing so, fails to rebut this evidence.  There is simply no basis before the Court to find the 

funds were tainted, and therefore belong to the receivership estate.  Ms. Dean’s Motion to Quash 

should be granted.  

III. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Non-Party Kamille Dean requests that this Honorable Court grant

her Motion to Quash Jurisdiction Over Kamille Dean and Receiver's August 1, 2022, OSC re 

Contempt and Turn Over Order (Dkt. 257), and the Receiver’s Motion to Compel or Alternative 

Motion for OSC (Dkt. 210) be denied. 

DATED this 8th day of September 2022. 

         JONES LOVELOCK 

By: /s/ Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq.
Nicole Lovelock, Esq. (11187) 
Kimberley A. Hyson, Esq. (11611) 
6600 Amelia Earhart Ct., Suite C 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119 
Tel: (702) 805-8450 
Fax: (702) 805-8451 

Attorneys for Kamille Dean 

39 Mot. to Quash (Dkt. 257), at 8:3-21, Ex. D. 
40 Id.  
41 Id. See Ex. D, Decl. of Kamille Dean. 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

The undersigned hereby certifies that on the 8th day of September 2022, a true and correct 

copy of the foregoing NON-PARTY KAMILLE DEAN’S REPLY IN SUPPORT OF MOTION 

TO QUASH JURISDICTION OVER KAMILLE DEAN AND THE RECEIVER’S AUGUST 

1, 2022, OSC RE CONTEMPT AND TURN OVER ORDER (DKT 257) was served by 

electronically submitting with the Clerk of the Court using the electronic system and serving all 

parties with an email-address on record. 

 By /s/ Julie Linton 
An Employee of JONES LOVELOCK 
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF SOUTH CAROLINA 

ANDERSON/GREENWOOD DIVISION 

IN RE: RECEIVER FOR 
RONNIE GENE WILSON AND 
ATLANTIC BULLION & COIN, INC. 
__________________________________

)
)
)
)

   Civil Action No.  8:12-cv-02078-JMC 

ORDER

 This matter is before the court on the Receiver’s Motion to Amend the Order of 

Appointment filed October 20, 2015.  (ECF No. 160.)  In the Motion, the Receiver asks the court 

to amend the January 13, 2015 Order of Appointment (ECF No. 118) to remove “Gordon L. Hall 

and Benton T. Hall (the “Halls”), limited solely to the Halls’ financial connection to Howell, 

Wilson and AB&C and the corresponding criminal convictions, and their subsidiaries, successors 

and assigns” as Receivership Entities.  After consideration, the court GRANTS the Receiver’s 

Motion to remove the Halls from the January 13, 2015 Order.  This Order replaces and 

supersedes the Order of January 13, 2015.

 At the beginning of this case, the United States requested with the consent of Defendants, 

and the court granted, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(b)(4)(A), a motion 

for an appointment of a Federal Receiver regarding Ronnie Gene Wilson (“Wilson”) and 

Atlantic Bullion & Coin, Inc. (“AB&C”) (collectively, “Defendants”) (Criminal Action No.  

8:12-cr-0320-JMC).  It now appears to the court that there are entities and individuals controlled 

by and/or alter egos of the Defendants to include Republic Bullion & Coin, Inc.; Henry & 

Crowder Family Ltd. Partnership; Henry & Crowder, LLC; Bailey & Rice Family Ltd. 

Partnership; Live Oak Farms; Smallwood Family Trust; Professional Planning of Easley, LLC; 

Wallace Lindsey Howell (“Howell”) and all businesses and/or trusts owned or controlled by 

Howell including, but not limited to, Julie A. Asset Management Trust, the Kingdom Estate 
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Trust, Wallace Lindsey Howell Trust, Bill Porter Construx Home, WMA World Marketing, 

Upstate OSR, Protective Solutions, and RHYS & Company, LLC; Tracy Neily (“Neily”) and all 

businesses and/or trusts owned or controlled by Neily including, but not limited to, the Atwell 

Family Trust.  Collectively, these individuals and Defendants shall be referred to as the “AB&C 

Receivership Entities”. 

Whereas, the Government and Defendants ask that the Receiver be vested with full and 

exclusive power, duty and authority to administer and manage the business affairs, funds, assets, 

choses in action and any other property of the AB&C Receivership Entities, marshal and 

safeguard all of the assets of the AB&C Receivership Entities, and take whatever actions are 

necessary for the protection of the United States and investors. 

Whereas, the court has appointed Beattie B. Ashmore, Esquire, Greenville, South 

Carolina who the court finds is eminently qualified to be appointed as Receiver of all of the 

assets, properties, books and records, and other items of the AB&C Receivership Entities. 

Now, Therefore, IT IS ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the appointed 

Receiver for the AB&C Receivership Entities is hereby authorized, empowered, and directed to: 

1. Take immediate possession of all property, assets and estates owned, controlled, used, 

accessed or authorized by or for the benefit of the AB&C Receivership Entities, (including assets 

and property directly traceable to the AB&C Receivership Entities that may be in the possession 

of Wilson, Howell and/or Neily’s family members and acquaintances) that have and continue to 

receive, withdraw, hold, and /or disburse money on behalf of the AB&C Receivership Entities or 

in the possession of the AB&C Receivership Entities of every kind whatsoever and wheresoever 

located, including, but not limited to, rights of action, books, papers, data processing records, 

evidences of debt, bank accounts, savings accounts, certificates of deposit, stocks, bonds, 

debentures and other securities, mortgages, furniture, fixtures, office supplies and equipment, 
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and all real property of the AB&C Receivership Entities, wherever situated, and to administer 

such assets as is required in order to comply with the directions contained in this Order, and to 

hold all other assets pending further order of this court.

Access to Seized Documents and Property 

In the event that any of the foregoing documents or property have been seized by the 

United States Secret Service (“USSS”), such authorities are directed to grant the Receiver and 

his agents full and unfettered access to review and copy such documents and property to permit 

the Receiver to discharge his duties, subject to the USSS’s ability to review, store, and assure 

said documents are safeguarded for use in future legal proceedings.  In addition, the USSS is 

directed to turn over any and all assets seized from the AB&C Receivership Entities directly to 

the Receiver.  Any entity that has possession, custody, or control of any asset of the AB&C 

Receivership Entities is directed to turn over such asset to the Receiver. 

2. Investigate the manner in which the affairs of the AB&C Receivership Entities were 

conducted and institute such actions and legal proceedings, for the benefit and on behalf of the 

AB&C Receivership Entities, and their respective investors or other creditors, as the Receiver 

deems necessary against those individuals, corporations, agencies, partnerships, associations 

and/or unincorporated organizations, that the Receiver may claim to have wrongfully, illegally or 

otherwise improperly be in the possession of or misappropriated/transferred monies or other 

proceeds directly or indirectly traceable from investors in the Ponzi scheme operated by 

Defendants, including their respective officers, directors, employees, affiliates, subsidiaries or 

any persons acting in concert or participation with them, or against any transfers of monies or 

other proceeds directly or indirectly traceable from investors in AB&C; provided such actions 

may include, but not be limited to, seeking imposition of constructive trusts, disgorgement of 

profits, of debts, and such orders from this court as may be necessary to enforce this Order. 
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3. Present to this court a report reflecting the existence and value of the assets and 

liabilities of the AB&C Receivership Entities.  If the Receiver in executing his duties believes it 

is in the best interest of all parties and persons affected that certain assets seized should be 

liquidated prior to a final liquidation of assets in order to maximize the value, the Receiver shall 

submit to the court a request for approval, and, if good cause be shown, such approval will be 

granted.  However, the court is aware that the Receiver is in the possession of certain assets 

including but not limited to livestock and perishable food items that may need to be sold 

forthwith in order to preserve their value.  As to these assets, the Receiver is authorized to 

conduct a sale at his discretion without obtaining a specific order from the court.    

4. Appoint one or more special agents, employ legal counsel, actuaries, accountants, 

clerks, consultants and assistants as he deems necessary and to fix and pay their reasonable 

compensation and reasonable expenses thereof and all reasonable expenses of taking possession 

of the AB&C Receivership Entities’ assets and businesses, and exercising the power granted by 

this Order, subject to approval by this court at the time the Receiver accounts to the court for 

such expenditures and compensation. 

5. Engage persons in his discretion to assist him in carrying out his duties and 

responsibilities as Receiver, including, but not limited to, the United States Marshal’s Service or 

a private security firm. 

6. Defend, compromise or settle legal actions, including the instant proceeding, wherein  

Defendants or the Receiver are a party, commenced either prior to or subsequent to this Order, 

with authorization of this court; except, however, in actions where any Defendant is a nominal 

party, as in certain foreclosure actions where the action does not affect the assets of Defendants, 

the Receiver may file appropriate pleadings in his discretion.  

7. Assume control of, and be named as authorized signatory for, all accounts at any bank, 
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brokerage firm or financial institution that has possession, custody or control of any assets or 

funds, wherever situated, of–or for the benefit of–the AB&C Receivership Entities and, upon 

order of this court, of any of their subsidiaries or affiliates, provided that the Receiver deems it 

necessary. 

8. Make or authorize such payments and disbursements from the funds and assets taken 

into control, or thereafter received by the Receiver, that which are reasonable in discharging his 

duties as Receiver. 

9. Have access to and review all mail except for mail from Defendants’ attorney to 

Defendant, as more fully set forth in paragraph 21 of this Order. 

10. Upon conviction or guilty plea, if such a conviction or guilty plea comes to bear, do 

all things necessary, including, but not limited to fashioning and distributing a proof of claim 

form in order to obtain, collect, analyze, verify and present to the court information related to the 

financial loss of victims. 

11. Upon entry of an Order of Restitution, if such an order is entered, do all things 

necessary to effectuate a distribution, including, but not limited to fashioning and submitting a 

Plan for Claims Administration and Distribution of Proceeds to be approved by the court; 

locating, seizing, managing and liquidating, with court approval, assets held or obtained by the 

Receiver; and distributing, at the court’s discretion, the corpus of the Receiver Estate to those 

persons who have met the requirement for and are entitled to restitution.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that, in connection with 

the appointment of the Receiver provided for above: 

12. The AB&C Receivership Entities and all of their respective directors, officers, agents, 

employees, attorneys, attorneys-in-fact, shareholders, sales representatives and other persons 

who are in custody, possession, or control of any assets, books, records, or other property of the 
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AB&C Receivership Entities shall deliver forthwith upon demand such property, monies, books 

and records to the Receiver, and shall forthwith grant to the Receiver authorization to be a 

signatory as to all accounts at banks, brokerage firms or financial institutions that have 

possession, custody or control of any assets or funds in the name of or for the benefit of the 

AB&C Receivership Entities. 

13. All banks, brokerage firms, financial institutions, or other business entities that have 

or may have–per information provided by the Receiver–possession, custody or control of any 

assets, funds or accounts in the name of, or for the benefit of the AB&C Receivership Entities or 

in the name of or for the benefit of individuals known to be working in concert with the AB&C 

Receivership Entities (including those acting in the capacity of sales representatives) shall 

cooperate expeditiously in providing necessary information and in the granting of control and 

authorization as a necessary signatory as to said assets and accounts to the Receiver.  Any 

required disclosure and notification of the Receiver’s request for information and/or control of 

said assets and accounts shall occur in a manner so as not to impede the duties of the Receiver. 

14. Unless and as authorized by the Receiver, the AB&C Receivership Entities, and their 

respective principals or anyone purporting to act on their behalf shall take no action on behalf of 

or for the benefit of the AB&C Receivership Entities. 

15. The AB&C Receivership Entities, and their respective principals, officers, agents, 

employees, attorneys-in-fact, and sales representatives shall cooperate fully with the Receiver, 

including, if requested, appearing for deposition testimony and producing documents, upon two 

business days’ notice (which may be sent by facsimile), and shall take no action, directly or 

indirectly, to hinder, obstruct, or otherwise interfere with the Receiver in the conduct of his 

duties or to interfere in any manner, directly or indirectly, with the custody, possession, 

management, or control by the Receiver of the funds, assets, premises, or choses in action 

8:12-cv-02078-TMC     Date Filed 10/29/15    Entry Number 164     Page 6 of 8
Case 2:22-cv-00612-CDS-EJY   Document 295-1   Filed 09/08/22   Page 7 of 31



7

described above. 

16. The Receiver, or any counsel who the Receiver may select, is entitled to reasonable 

compensation from the assets now in the possession or control of, or which may be received by 

the AB&C Receivership Entities; said amount or amounts of compensation shall be 

commensurate with the duties performed, subject to approval of the court. 

17. During the period of this Receivership, all persons, including creditors, banks, 

investors, or others, with actual notice of this Order, are enjoined from filing a petition for relief 

under the United States Bankruptcy Code without prior permission from this court, or from in 

any way disturbing the assets or proceeds of the receivership or from prosecuting any actions or 

proceedings that interfere with the discharge of the Receiver’s obligations. 

18. Title to all property, contracts, rights of action, and books and records of the AB&C 

Receivership Entities, and their respective principals, wherever located, is vested by operation of 

law in the Receiver. 

19. Upon request by the Receiver, any company providing telephonic services to the 

AB&C Receivership Entities, shall provide a reference of calls from all numbers presently 

assigned to the AB&C Receivership Entities, to any such number designated by the Receiver or 

perform any other changes necessary to the conduct of the receivership. 

20. Any entity furnishing water, electric, telephone, sewage, garbage or trash removal 

services to the AB&C Receivership Entities shall maintain such service and transfer any such 

accounts to the Receiver unless otherwise instructed by the Receiver without the need to post a 

bond or security deposit. 

21. The United States Postal Service is directed to provide any information requested by 

the Receiver regarding any Defendant, and handle future deliveries of Defendants’ mail as 

directed by the Receiver.  All personal mail or mail to or from Defendants’ attorney will be 
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delivered to Defendants’ attorney by the Receiver. 

22. No bank, savings and loan association, financial institution, or any other person or 

entity, shall exercise any form of set-off, alleged set-off, lien, or any form of self-help 

whatsoever, or refuse to transfer any funds or assets to the Receiver’s control without the 

permission of this court. 

23. No bond shall be required in connection with the appointment of the Receiver. Except 

for an act of gross negligence, the Receiver shall not be liable for any loss or damage incurred by 

the AB&C Receivership Entities, or the Receiver’s officers, agents, employees, independent 

representatives or any other person, by reason of any act or omission by the Receiver in 

connection with the discharge of his duties and responsibilities hereunder. 

24. Service of this Order shall be sufficient if made upon the AB&C Receivership Entities 

or their respective principals by facsimile or overnight courier. 

25. In the event that the Receiver discovers that funds of persons who have invested in the 

AB&C Receivership Entities, have been transferred to other persons or entities, the Receiver 

shall apply to this court for an Order giving the Receiver possession of such funds and, if the 

Receiver deems it advisable, extending this receivership over any person or entity holding such 

investor funds. 

26. The Receiver is ordered to periodically file a Report on his activities with the court. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

       
          United States District Judge 

October 28, 2015 
Columbia, South Carolina 
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DECLARATION OF PHIL ESCOLAR 
 
 

 
 I, Phil Escolar, declare and say: 
 
 I am an attorney at law admitted to practice law in the State of Arizona.  I am not 
admitted to practice law in the State of Nevada, and I do not practice law in Nevada.  I have 
never attempted to take the bar examination in Nevada nor have I submitted any type of 
application to be admitted to practice law in Nevada. I do not represent clients from or in 
Nevada, and I have engaged in no conduct as part of my legal assistance of Kamille Dean in the 
State of Nevada.   
 
 
 My daughter attends the University of Nevada as a full time student. Because I often 
travel, I utilize a mailing address in Nevada that she is able to regularly check for me, and she 
frequently assists me in processing mailings and legal documents, which she digitally copies and 
transmits to me via email. For that reason the Reno, Nevada, Post Office Box appears on my 
billing and as my current mailing address. 
 
     I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States the foregoing is true 
and correct.  Executed in Oroville, California, on September 7, 2022. 
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1 
MS. DEAN’S NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO QUASH RECEIVER’S CONTEMPT DEMANDS 

 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA 

 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 
 

Plaintiff, 
v. 
 
MATTHEW WADE BEASLEY et. al.  
 

Defendants, 
 
THE JUDD IRREVOCABLE TRUST et. al, 
 

Relief Defendants. 

 
Case No. 2:22-cv-0612-CDS-EJY 

 
 

DECLARATON OF KAMILLE DEAN 
(FILED IN CAMERA) 

 
TIME:        TBD 
DATE:       TBD 
PLACE:     Courtroom 6B  

 

 I Kamille Dean, declare and say: 

1. I previously provided a Declaration in this matter and incorporate said Declaration hereto for this 

Reply as well. 

2. I have been a licensed attorney since 2004 and have never had my fees contested or taken by the 

federal, state or local government. I have worked on many high-profile federal matters, including 

criminal matters.   

3. I am always very careful to ensure that I do not take dirty money. I always do my due diligence and 

work with other attorneys that do the same. 

4. I have been of counsel attorney for Oberheiden P.C. for several years.  Oberheiden referred Mr. Judd 

and his family to me after the Judd’s received subpoenas from the SEC.  Oberheiden assured me all 

funds were legally obtained before I received the retainer.    

5. Oberheiden required Judd to sign a fee agreement with assurances that all funds given to Oberheiden 

P.C. originate from lawful U.S. Sources.  I was informed of this by Oberheiden before agreeing to 

provide services to Judd and his family in response to the SEC subpoenas. 

6. Judd also assured me that all funds were legally obtained.   

7. I also spoke to Judd and his family members, including Preston and Jennifer Judd, who were also 

served with subpoenas and were assured the funds were transferred to Attorney Mike Peters previous 

to any alleged ponzi scheme allegations and the funds were not tainted. 
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MS. DEAN’S NOTICE OF MOTION AND MOTION TO QUASH RECEIVER’S CONTEMPT DEMANDS 

8. Neither Mr. Judd or any of his family members who retained me have been criminally charged with 

any matter. 

9. I oversaw two attorneys, including Phil Escolar and Maureen Jaroscak and two former special 

agents, including Marie Kondzielski, a former FBI Special Agent (retired), and Maura Kelley, a FBI 

Special Agent in reviewing all of Judd’s emails to respond to the SEC’s subpoena. I reviewed 

summaries of all emails and read any notated attorney client privilege emails to prepare for 

disclosure to the SEC in creating a privilege log. 

10. In doing so, I never became aware of any information which indicated Mr. Judd or any of his family 

members that retained me were part of any ponzi scheme. 

11. During my initial review of the case, I also personally reviewed over 500,000 emails from Judd’s 

email account.  Nothing during my review indicated that Judd or any of his family members that 

retained me were part of any ponzi scheme. 

12. As a matter of standard policy and for many years of my practice of law, I also consulted the 

Department of Justice Assets Forfeiture Manual The Forfeiture Manual (2021) to make sure that my 

receipt of funds on March 30, 2022, was not improper and that it was within the standards of 

attorneys who practice law in my area.  I do this as a matter of standard practice whenever I receive 

funds from a client no matter what the matter might be or how or why I represent clients.  In the case 

of my six (6) Clients and Attorney-Client Agreement signed on March 25, 2022, I had no notice any 

of the funds were tainted, subject to forfeiture, or otherwise the product of illegality.  This Manual is 

a standard in the industry to follow when receiving attorneys’ fees from all clients, even when we 

have no notice of impropriety. 

13. The Manual emphasized the importance of “ensuring that current an accurate information on the 

ownership of, and any encumbrances against, personal property.”  Department of Justice, Assets 

Forfeiture Manual, ¶ D.3.a p. 10 (2021)). https://www.justice.gov/criminal-

afmls/file/839521/download.   When information is not available immediately, the Manual requires 

“this information must be complied and made available as soon as possible.”  Id.  When the assets 

cannot be identified with ownership in the defendant, the seizing agency must “take immediate 

action to terminate forfeiture of the asset.  Id. p. 11, ¶ D.3.b.3. 

14. When the funds were transferred to me on March 30, 2022, I had no information showing the funds 

were tainted or illegal.  I set about examining 500,000 emails and communications between my 

clients, third parties, and attorneys in order to comply with the March 18, 2022, subpoenas which 

had been issued from the SEC, and I conducted a privilege review for their documents.  Two former 

FBI Special Agents reviewed over two million emails and there was still no indication of tainted 
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funds.  At no time during this massive review of documents which included years of 

communications between Judd, his attorney Michael Beasley and among third parties was there any 

indication that any of the funds in my Trust Amount were tainted, illegal, or the product of unlawful 

activity. 

15. The Manual states that “Certain property may be release following federal seizure for forfeiture, but 

prior to the filing of any claim pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 8.7" which includes “property belonging to 

an innocent owner having an immediate right to possess.”  Id. p. 14, ¶ E.1.  In my case, I was an 

innocent owner of the funds transferred.  I gave full value for the $201,060 I earned as my fees prior 

to June 4, 2022, when I learned of the Receiver’ existence.   

16. The Forfeiture Manual states: 

“Persons who acquired an interest in the property after the illegal conduct occurred can also defeat the 
government’s proven forfeiture claim by establishing that they qualify as a bona fide purchaser for value 
of the interest, and at the time they acquired the interest, they did not know and were reasonably without 
cause to believe that the property was subject to forfeiture. See § 983(d)(3)....   If, however, the likely 
owner is not the perpetrator of, or knowing participant in, the underlying criminal activity, prosecutors 
must take all reasonable steps, such as the use of special interrogatories under Rule G(6) of the 
Supplemental Rules of Admiralty or Maritime Claims and Asset Forfeiture Actions (Supplemental 
Rules), before filing a civil forfeiture complaint to ascertain whether the likely owner may have a viable 
“innocent owner” defense.” Id. p. 86 ¶ D.2.a. 
17. In my case, I met the standards of an innocent owner.  I had no notice of any unlawful activity 

associated with the funds.  My Clients assured me there was no illegality or taint involved in the 

funds, and the attorney who represented them on the ongoing SEC investigation also assured me that 

they had verified the funds were lawful, that former FBI agents and IRS personnel they used as 

experts had also verified the funds were law.  I was an innocent owner with no notice of knowledge 

of any taint in these funds prior to June 4, 2022. 

18. The Manual states that an innocent owner will qualify as a BFP “who was reasonably without cause 

to believe that the property was subject to forfeiture, if the likely owner acquired the property after 

the criminal activity subjecting the property to forfeiture had been completed.”  Id.  The Manual 

further states that “If a pre-filing investigation reveals that an owner with standing has a viable 

innocent owner defense, prosecutors should refrain from proceeding with a forfeiture action against 

that property.”  Id. If there is an indictment, an attorney who holds funds belonging to the defendant 

may lose their BFP status based on their learning form the indictment that the funds are the product 

of illegal activity.  Id. p. 96, ¶ B.1 citing United States v. McCorkle, 321 F.3d 1292, 1294 n.2  (11th 

Cir. 2003) (attorney may lose bona fide purchaser status as to advance fee received from client 

“because the client is indicted and the attorney learns additional information about his client’s 

guilt”).  Under the Department of Justice Manual, the government may seize funds from an 
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attorney’s Trust Account or IOLTA (Interest on Lawyer Trust Accounts).   

19. The government utilizes the citation to the McCorkle case was of great importance to me because 

that Court stated that where Attorney F. Lee Bailey had no knowledge of any illegality of funds 

transferred to him from a potential criminal defendant, he was a Bona Fide Purchaser for value prior 

to receive of knowledge or information the funds were tainted.  Once he received such notice, he 

would lose his BFP status.   

20. In my case, I had no knowledge any of the funds were tainted or unlawful until June 4, 2022, when I 

learned of the receiver.  Even after June 4, 3033, I still have no notice or knowledge that the funds 

are tainted and I have never seen any evidence of taint, illegality or the funds being the product of 

unlawful activity. 

21. I have also consulted the Department of Justice Attorney’s Fees Forfeiture Guidelines Manual for 

many years of practicing law for many different clients to determine if funds should be forfeited 

from a Trust Account.  In my case, I met all of the Standards in the Department of Justice Attorney 

Fees Forfeiture Guidelines Manual and Department of Justice Assets Forfeiture Manual. 

22. The Department of Justice Attorney Fees Forfeiture Guidelines state: 

“The mere fact that an attorney has received a forfeitable asset as payment for legal fees by itself 
does not provide reasonable grounds to believe the transfer was a fraudulent or sham transaction. 
There must be reasonable cause to believe the asset was transferred for the purpose of impeding or 
defeating the government's ability to forfeit it. Generally, there should be some proof that a scheme 
existed to maintain the client's interest in the asset or ability to use it to his/her benefit. This may be 
shown, for example, by proof that the value of services actually rendered was disproportionately low 
compared to the value of the asset transferred and that there was agreement by the attorney to 
transfer the asset or some portion of it back to the client. In other situations there may be evidence 
that the attorney agreed to transfer the asset to another third party for the benefit of the client or to an 
account or corporation that is controlled by the client. The evidence, however, need not establish that 
the attorney was a participant in the criminal activity giving rise to the forfeiture or that he/she 
otherwise violated any law.”  Department of Justice, Attorney fees Forfeiture Guidelines Manual, ¶ 
9-120.102 (2022) https://www.justice.gov/jm/jm-9-120000-attorney-fee-forfeiture-guidel. 

23. In my case the transfer was not fraudulent or sham and was done before any claims were asserted 

against one (1) of my clients.  The funds were immediately utilized on an emergency basis to comply 

to civil subpoenas issued by the SEC on March 18, 2022, prior to any lawsuit being filed by the 

SEC, and clearly before I received notice of the existence of the Receiver on June 4, 2022.  There 

was no scheme to maintain the client’s interest in the asset and the services rendered were not 

disproportionate in caparison to the assets transferred.  The services were rendered on an emergency 

basis by the SEC itself who demanded immediate compliance with its subpoenas.    

24. The Justice Department goes on to state: 

“The principal issue to be addressed in the application of these guidelines is what constitutes "actual 
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knowledge" or "reasonable cause to know" that an asset is subject to forfeiture "at the time of the 
transfer." This issue must be resolved on a case-by-case basis. However, the following principles 
shall be applied in determining whether the prerequisite of actual knowledge or reasonable cause to 
know exists in a particular case.”  Department of Justice, Attorney fees Forfeiture Guidelines 
Manual, ¶ 9-120.105 (2022). 

25. In my case I had no actual knowledge or reasonable cause to know that the asset I received on March 

30, 2022, for which I was already providing emergency work as of March 25, 2022, was subject to 

forfeiture.   

26. I did not know of the existence of the Receiver’s claim until June 4, 2022, and I had a good faith 

belief as a Bona Fire Purchaser and Seller of Services without notice that these funds were untainted 

and not involved in criminality.   

27. Under the Department of Justice guidelines, I had every right to take, receive, and utilize the $250,00 

which was in my Trust Account of which I used $201,060 before I ever heard of the Receiver or his 

claims. 

28. I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Arizona the foregoing is true and 

correct.   

Executed this 8th day of September, 2022, at Phoenix, Arizona. 

 

       ___________________________________ 

        Kamille Dean 
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